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CHAPTER XIX.

GAZETTEER.

AMINDIVI ISLANDS.

Tue Amindivi Islands consist of a group of five islands—Chetlat,
Kiltan, Kadamat, Amini and Bitra—running nearly parallel to the
line of the coast at a distance of 170 to 200 miles, besides a few
isolated reefs, They form the northern group of the Laccadives.
Each of the islands is situated on an extensive coral shoal, with an
area of from 2 to 3 square miles. Their surface is flat and no
part of any of these formations rises more than 10 or 15 feet
above the level of the sea. Around each island a more or less
extensive fringe of coral reef extends, broader and more shelving
on the west, where the island naturally most requires protection,
and narrow and abrupt on the east. The outer edges are higher
than the body of these shoals, and extending, as they do, in a
semicircle at a distance of 500 yards to three-fourths of a mile
round the west, generally enclose a regularly formed lagoon, in
some of which the water is so still that in the worst weather
eoir or cocoanut fibre may be soaked without danger of being
washed away, The body of the island is the more perfect develop-
ment of the eastern and protected side of the coral formation.
The same feature characterizes all these shoals, and leads to the
theory that they rose to the surface in the form of circular or oval
shallow basins, and that under the protection of the shoal the east
rim gradually developed itself towards the centre and formed an
island., This theory is strengthened by the fact that in some of
the islands this gradual inerease towards the lagoon is still going
on. The receding tide leaves the outer edge of the reef nearly
dry and the tide-water passes out of the lagoon by two or three
breaches in the outer rim which are sufficiently large to admit
the light native craft into the natural harbour, several feet deep
even at low tide, formed by the lagoon.

The foundation of the soil in all these islands is a stratum of
coral or limestone, which, varying from 1 foot to 14 feet in thick-
ness, is seemingly above the highest level of the water, and, being
of a piece with the whole formation, stretches uniformly through-
ont the portion of the shoal which is above sea-level, Beneath
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this erust the soil consists of loose wet sand and by removing a few
spadefuls to allow the water to accumulate, a pool of fresh water
may be cbtainedin any part. All wells, tanks and pits for soaking
coir {where soaked in fresh water) are made by breaking through
this erust and taking out the sand. The sand gradually presses
towards this excavation, and from its constant removal, some of
the wells and tanks extend under this vault of coral for some dis-
tance all round. The water in these wells is quite fresh and
always abundant ; but it is affected by the tide, rising and falling
several inches; it is sald to be mnot very wholesome, but recent
andlyses theow doubt on this statement. Above the crust the soil
lies to a depth varying frem 2 to 6 feet, generally composed of
light coral sand, which is finer than common sea-sand, but quite
as dry. In some parts the soil is entirely composed of small loose
pieces of eoral without any other soil, a condition which is said to
be particularly well adapted to the cocoanut. The surface soil is
naturally so barren that there is little or no spontaneous vegeta-
tion in most of the islands. An attempt was made by breaking
up the surface crust of coral in part of Aminito make a soil on
which food grains could be grown, and a little dry grain was pro-
duced for a time ; but the experiment was found so unsatisfactory
that it "has been given up, and it only shows that the prosperity of
the islands must always depend entirely on the cocoanut,

The health of the people is generally good and they live to a
considerable age. Women suffer chiefly from want of proper
treatment in confinement, and the mortality of infants is very
high. Men suffer chiefly from eye diseases, the effect of the in-
tense glare of the white coral sand, and from rheumatism, the
effect probably of constant exposure in fishing or looking after the
soaking of the coir. There is a dispensary in Amini, with a Hos-
pital Assistant, and a trained midwife was also attached to it, but
she has since resigned.

For two and-a-half centuries the Laccadive Islands formed part
of the small principality of Cannanore, having been conferred as
Jdgir on that family by the Chirakkal R4j4 (about 1550 A.D.). In
1786, the northern islanders revolted and transferrved their allegiance
to Mysore. In 1799, when Canara fell to the Bast India Company,
these islands, the present Amindivis, were not restored to the Bibi
of Cannanore, but a remission of revenue (Rs. 5,250) was conceded
instead ; hence the different status of the two portions of the group.
Such revenue as is'derived from the Laccadive Islands has, for
more than a century, been obtained from a monopoly of the staple
produce-—coir, The entire outturn is elaimed by the Government.
i the northern or Amindivi group. The article is bought from
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the producers at fixed prices, and is sold on the coast at the market
rates; the difference counstitutes the revenue or profits of frade of
the Government. No change has been made for many years in
the price which is given by Government for the coir produced in
the Amindivi group. Payment is made partly in rice and partly
in money.

The islands are scheduled tracts, Z.., the ordinary law of India
does not apply to them until it is specially extended. The
administration is of a patriarchal character, the chief representa-
tive of the Government being an officer styled the Monegar (pay
Rs. 85 per mensem). He is a Magistrate of the third class and
administers the criminal law according to the Penal and Criminal
Procedure Codes. Persons charged with grave offences are sent
to the mainland for trial, but such cases occur very rarely. In
addition to the ordinary law there is a body of ¢ customs,” and the
monegar has power to punish with fine any person who commits a
breach of these customs, Thus adultery, which, under the codes,
is an offence that can be inquired into only by a first-class Magis-
trate, is an offence against custom and the monegar punishes it by
fine. It is the same with defamation. By this authority also he
enforces such customs as joining in ‘“koots’ or general assem-
blies for the purpose of destroying rats, or of clearing the entrances
to the lagoons when they are blocked up by the growing coral, or
of beaching and launching big boats, or other works of publie
utility which could not be efficiently done by individuals for
themselves. Among other offences which he has at times prinished
as contrary to the custom of the people or to good morals and
public safety are witcheratt, being out after dark under suspicious
cirenmstances, being suspected of theft, and turning a sister out of
doors. The monegar also deals with disputes of a civil nature
and in this capacity he is usually assisted by a panchéyat of
elders, called BMoktessors in Amini and Mupamdrs in the other
islands. The monegar resides in Amini, but he keeps a peon in
each of the other islands. This peon acts as a police officer, but
there are salso other.petty watehmen called Nadpals. Lastly in
each island except Bitra there is an accountant called the Karani.
There is no land tax or indeed taxation of any sort except eourt
fees, and the revenue is derived solely from the coir monopoly.
The net revenue obtained from the islands necessarily varies
with the produce of the cocoanat trees. In 1890-91 it was over
Rs. 9,000, but in many years there is a considerable deficit.

The total population of these islands, according to the census
of 1861, is 3,722. The people are all Musalmans, and, like the
Méppillas of the neighbouring coast, of Hindu descent. A tradi-
tion is preserved among them that their forefathers formed part
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of an expedition from Malay4lam which set out for Mecca in search
of their apostate king—Bharman Perumél—and was wrecked on
these islands. The inhabitants were certainly Hindus for long
. after their first settlement, and were probably converted to Isldm
not more than 250 or 300 years back. They retain some of the
general distinctions of caste as well as the law of Alaya Santina,
but with some local modifications. The systems of filial succes-
sion (makkalasantina) and succession of the nephew (alaya
santdna) are practised side by side. Some families follow one, some
the other. It sometimes occurs that the ownership of property
descends in one family by one system, while the permanent tenancy
right descends by the other system. As most of the families are
closely connected by frequent intermarriage, the claims are some-
times very complicated when disputes arise.

Monogamy is universal, and the women appear in public freely
with their heads uncovered. The language is a corrupt form of
Malayélam, which is, however, written in the Arabic character.
The headmen and pilots of most of the islands know a little Arabie.
The inhabitants are bold seamen and expert boat-builders. In
1880 they owned 91 large and 297 small boats. They use some
crude nautical instruments which are made in Minieoy. The
captains of kundras.(big sea-going boats) usually study navigation
under experts who come from Minicoy to teach them.

. The dwelling houses are substantially built of limestone ; they
are untidily thatched and are terribly dark and dirty inside. But
in recent years the people of Amini, under the influence of the
Monegar, have greatly improved the style and comfort of their
houses, which now contrast very favourably with those of the
ordinary villagers on the mainland in their appearance of comfort
and the general cleanliness of their surroundings. Fxcept during
the rains the islanders live almost entirely in the open air: in
Kiltan and Chetlat every one sleeps at night on the shore of the
lagoon to get the benefit of the breeze.

The chief and almost sole cultivation is that of the cocoanut
palm ; the corresponding chief indusfry is the preparation and ex-
portation of cocoanut fibre (coir). The soaking of coir and the
other processes connected therewith are mainly conducted by the
women. 'The men convey the produce of the islands—coir, coeoa-
nuts, jaggery, &ec., besides tortoise shells and cowries—to the
mainland., The island of Amini was formerly noted for the
production of superior limes, but their growth has been almost
sbandoned. The bread-fruit tree (Arfocarpus dncise) is common,
and its fruit is better than that produced on the mainland, where
the tree is called * Diei halasu’ or * Divi jack,’
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- Amini : Population 2,160. Tt is the principal and most popu-
lIons island of the group. It is about 2 miles in Iength by over a
mile in width. The surface is very even, and in no part more than
about 10 feet above sea-level. The island almost entirely fills the
coral enclosure, so that there is very little lagoon between it and

-the reef. The bouses are scattered all over the island. As many

of them are at some distance from the shore, the coir is commonly
soaked in fresh water pits instead of in the sea, If these pits are
not frequently cleaned out, the coir from them is of an inferior
quality. The island is divided into four grdmams-—Pallic’chéri,
Idanéth, Purakkéri and Kétechéri. The prineipal inhabitants of
this island have an acknowledged superiority, and exercise con-
siderable influence over the inhabitants of the other islands.

Kadamat: Population 338. This island lies due north from
within sight of Amini, at a distance of 6 or 8 miles. The coral
formation on which it stands is very extensive and the lagoon
enclosed by the reefs is very large, well stocked with fish, and
much frequented by the people of Amini on that account. The
island is long and parrow, probably 3 to 3% miles long by three-
fifths of a mile broad. The body of the island appears generally
lower than that of any of the others, and has an excellent natural
protection against t}’le weather In a ridge of low sand drift which
runs down the west side. The superficial area of this island must
be considerably greater than that of any of the others, and the
nataral fertility of its soil exceeds all. Only a small portion as yet
is planted with cocoanuts, and this has been done mostly by people
of Amini. The inhabitants were formerly all tenants and depend-
ents of these Amini people, but most of them have now thrown off
that yoke and have boats of their own in which they export their
own coir and other produce. It isstill the most backward of the
group. _

Kiltan : Population 723. This lies about 20 miles from
Amini in a north-easterly direction. Though the smallest of the
group it ranks next to Amini in the general prosperity of its
inhabitants. A large number of them were carried off by cholera
in 1893. The superficial area of Kiltan may be about 13 square
miles and the reef on which it stands is extensive. The lagoon is
large, but shallow and is rapidly filling up, and even now there
is not sufficient water within it at low tide to float one of the
native kundras if laden. Within the last fifty years many feet of
land have been gained towards the lagoon. The reefs are suffi-

ciently extensive to protect the shore effectunally, all the coir is

soaked in the sea-sand, and frees are planted to the water’s edge
on every side.
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Chetlat: Population 511. This is the most northerly of the
group and lies about 15 miles distant from Kiltan and 25 to 30
from Amini. The shoal on which it stands is extensive, the lagoon
is large and very perfect and the shores well protected. The
island is from 2 to 24 miles in length and about three-fourths of a
mile broad. The surface is not so even as in the other islands,
and & ridge of low sand drift running up the middle prevents, or at
least retards, plantation in this island. Though not in nearly
go backward a state as Kadamat, it is naturally the least promising
of the islands. The soil is very poor, the trees very slow of growth
and not productive. Low mounds of sand occupy a great part of
the centre and best protected parts of the island, on whick nothing
grows except scanty crops of a plant called #rni, on the roots of
which a small ball, about the size of a pea, grows. After the plant
has withered these are gathered from among the loose sand and
used by the islanders. Dry coltivation on this island is very
insignificant. Some limestone is exported from the island to
the coast, and good mats are made here though mnot exported.
It has been the scene of several wrecks.

Bitra: This is not half the size of the others deseribed above,
but the shoal on which it is situated is very extensive and abounds
with fish, and is on that account much frequented by the islanders,
chiefly those of Chetlat. The island is sacred to a ‘Pir?
whose tomb stands in the middle of if, and there are from 150 to
200 trees planted round it as votive offerings to his manes; the
fruit of these is used by any of the fishermen who happen to land
there. The greater part of the island is covered with a thick low
brushwood among which, till within the last fifty years, extracrdi-
nary flocks of sea-birds laid their eggs and bred.; but now not one
remains, all having, without any apparent cause, migrated, it is
supposed, to the Maldives. The soil is said to be excellent and the
cocoanut tree grows rank and luxuriant. The want of fresh water
has impeded the occupation of this island. ‘When the fishermen
run short of water they dig a hole in the sand near the sea, and
use the brackish percolations from the sea in preference to the well
water. Rats are numerous and visitors now and again make a raid
on them. '

Reefs: There are four open reefs. The most northern is
Beriseini, which is of considerable length and only shows two
small spaces above water at high water. DBoats can get inside the
reef.

CHERIaPANI lies 18 miles south-west from Beliapini. It is
better known as the Byranhor reef and no part of it is above
water at high water. Boats can get inside the reef, and it is the
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favourite fishing ground. It is much larger than Beliapini and
the stem of an iron ship is still visible on it.

PerMULLEE i8 a reef due west of Amini 45 miles. A small
portion is above high water-mark and is usually occupied by a
large number of sea-birds.

Errgarpint lies 30 miles east of Kiltan and is some 30 fathoms
below the surface. :

COONDAPOOR TALUK.

Tur Coondapoor taluk is the smallest and most northern of all
the taluks of South Canara. It is bounded on the north by North
Canara ; on the east by Mysore, the line of boundary being, except
in a few placés, the summit of the Western Ghauts; on the south
by the Udipi taluk ; and on the west by the Arabian Sea. Tt has
an area of H12 square miles. The sea-bhoard is about 28 miles
long, and the distance from the coast to the Western Ghauts is
about 25 miles in the southern part of the taluk.

The northern and eastern parts of the taluk are full of long
spurs from the Western Ghauts, covered with dense forests.

The taluk is traversed by seven rivers, of which the Kollar,
Haladi and Chakranadi are alone of any importance. These rivers
are navigable to a small distance from their mouths. -

There is the usual plain near the coast with a sandy soil mixed
more or less with alluvial land, and then come the laterite plateaux
and valleys, and after that spurs from the ghéts. The basin
formed by the three large rivers, which join to form the lagoon at
Coondapoor, is singularly fertile and full of islands well adapted
for cocoanut or sugarcane plantation as well as” for rice, and good
goil extends well up all the three valleys. .

There is much more forest in Coondapoor than in Udipi or
Mangalore, and on the laterite plateaux and slopes to the north of
the taluk there are large numbers of catechu frees {Adeaciz cotechu
and Adcacia sundra). Near the eultivated lands on the coast the
jungle has been coppiced for manure, and some parts have been
completely cleared, but not to the same extent as in the Udipi and
Mangalore taluks,

Wild animals abound in Coondapoor, but are found chiefly on
the slopes of the Western Ghauts. The bison and the sambar are
very frequently met with all along the line of the ghéts from
north to south. The tiger and the cheeta or leopard both abound
and commit great havoe on the agricultural stock of the taluk.
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The taluk is on the whole a healthy one, but its elimate is
characterised by excessive humidity during the greafer part of
the year. Tt has a relaxing and debilitating effect on Europeans,
especially women and children, who become pale and anemic
after prolonged residence. The average annual rainfall is 125
inches on the coast and 140 inches in the interior; at the foot of
the ghdts it is even more, as there the rain-charged clouds drifting
inland are sharply intercepted by the mountains.

The total length of roads in the taluk is 144 miles, and the
roads are classified as follows :—

Number and length of Roads,

Number, From To Distance

in miles.
17 Coondapoor ... ... | Haladi ... 14
18 Hyderghur ghét ... } Sankaranérdyans 16
19 Haladi Wandge ... 14
20 Wandse v | Laximptr e .. 30
20-A | Coondapoor ... ... | Wandse ... 8
21 Halkal . { Bainddr ... 13
22 Coast road Sl 28
22-A | Coast road .. | Baindfr (port) ... 1
26 Basrir . | Hansemakki . 5
27 Neralkutta Wandse ... 9
28 Basrdr . Kétéshwar 4
29 Waderhobli ... Aribail ... 1%
29-A | Aribail River %
ToraL ... 144

As the taluk is small it must be considered well supplied with
voads. All the roads are under the Taluk Board, and none of
them form part of any important line of through communication.
"The prineipal road is No, 20 from Wandse (which has water com-
munication with Coondapoor) to Laximpfr on the Mysore frontier.
About 15 miles from Wandse it begins to ascend the Kollar ghat,
and after passing through the Mysore territory for about a mile
traverses the Hannar Mégané of the Coondapoor taluk which lies
above the ghits. The length of 30 miles includes a short
branch to Hannar and thence on to Benhatti on the Mysore
frontier. Next in importance te this—and more than equal to it
so far as through traffic is concerned—is the Road No. 18 from the
boundary half way up the Hyderghur ghit to Sankaraniriyana
whence there is water communication with Coondapoor. Road
No. 21 from Halkal to Baindfr puts the Kollir ghét in com-
munication with the port of Baindfr, and with North-Canara #id
the coast road. As in other parts of South Canara, the coast road

has been neglected, the rivers and hackwaters being too large to be-
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bridged ; the road has, therefore, little value as a line of through
communication, Road No. 17 from Coondapoor to Haladi is
continued through the Udipi taluk to the Agumbi ghit road from
Shimoga, but the bulk of the traffic leaves the road for water
communication at Haladi, Road No. 20-A from Coondapoor to
Wandse is a mere bridle-path at present, but it is being opened
out to full width. There are three broad streams fo cross in a

-length of 7 miles.

In connection with the roads the following means of water
communication are available: (1) Coondapoor to Wandse (10 miles),
(2) Coondapoor to Haladi (12 miles). The northern river, which
combines to form the backwater or large lagoon at Coondapoor, is
also navigable to Aribail at a distance of about 21 miles, but there
is no road in connection with it. The Bainddxr river is also navi-
gable for about a mile and-a-half.

Coondapoor and some other ports on the coast were, in the
early part of the sizteenth century, seized by the Portuguese, and
the more inland tract was included within the kingdom of Vijaya-
nagar until its overthrow in 1565. Subsequently this texrritory
became part of the Bednore State, and Coondapoor was one of the
principal ports of the RAj4; on the overthrow of the latter by
Hyder Ali in 1763, it was incorporated with his dominions, and
when Tippoo fell in 1799, it became part of the British district of
North Canara. On the partition of that district in 1860 it was
temporarily attached to Bombay.

In addition to the taluk proper there is a small tract of land
above the Western Ghauts, known as the Hannar Mégané, which
formed part of the endowment of the Kollar temple at the foot of
the ghéts, and being thus always treated as part of the Coonda-
poor taluk, it came into the possession of the British along with
the rest of South Canara. It is entirely surrounded by Mysore
territory, but on the west it is only separated by a distance of
about a mile from the rest of the taluk.

The taluk liesin the Head Assistant Collector’s division, whose
head-quarters are at Coondapoor. The chief local revenue officer
is the tahsildar (salary Rs. 150). He is also a magistrate, but
the bulk of the magisterial work is performed by the stationary
sub-magistrate at Coondapoor. The taluk forms a single police
division under an inspector, and is divided into seven police-station
charges. In respect to civil actions it lies within the jurisdietion
of the district. munsif of Coondapoor. The number of villages is
190 and all of them are inhabited. ‘

The population in 1891 was 120,268, of whom 55,092 were
males and 65,176 females. Hindus number 111,805, Musalmans
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5,122, Christians 3,063 and Jains 278, The population has
increased by only 4:48 per cent. since 1881, and there are now 235
persons to the square mile, The number of oceupied houses is
22,268, and there are on an average 540 inmates to each house,
Of the male population 86-95 per cent. are illiterate, 9-54 per cent.
can read and write, while 351 per cent. are learning. Of the
females 9948 per cent. are illiterate. Canarese is the mother-
tongue of 94,845 persons, Konkani that of 14,938, Marathi that of
5,163 and Hindustani that of 2,450. Classified aceording to occu-
pations, the population consists of 68,103 landholders and tenants,
2,386 agricultural labourers, 23,497 general labourers, 11,800
traders, 146 weavers, 7,807 other artisans and 6,529 persons of
various other professions.

The area of ryofwdri land in the taluk is 326,900 acres and
that of minor indms is 799. There are neither whole infms nor
zemindéris.  Of the ryotwarl land about 144,200 acres are under
forest and 78,700 acres are not available for cultivation. Of the
remainder 81,500 acres are occupied, and the area available for
extension of cultivation is thus 52,5600 acres. The area cropped in
1892-93 was 46,709 acres of ryotwdri land and 706 acres of minor
indm or about two-fifths of an acre per head of the population.
Rice is the principal crop and is grown on nearly 48,400 acres.
There are about 5,000 acres under other food-grains and pulses,
and 225 acres under sugarcans, There were in that year 4,661
single pattds, of which 1,391 were for sums below Rs. 10. The
normal land revenue of the taluk is Es. 2,10,000 and the cesses
charged on land revenue amount to Rs. 30,000,

The principal sources of irrigation are the seven rivers men-
tioned above, besides several private wells. The crops, however,

chiefly depend upon falling rains, and there is no regular system of
irrigation in the taluk.

The agricultural stock in the taluk is shown in the marginal

table.  Interpretin loughin
Bulls and bullocks ... .. 23,578 F & Povs &

Cows o T 9nee cattle to mean hulls, })uﬂocks .and_
Male buffaloes o .. 18419 male buffaloes, there is one pair to
Cow buffalces e 8,974 . : :
Young stock ... T ggoes overy 3'23 acres in -OOOHPat.‘LOI'],
Sheep and goats ... 594 the district average being one pair
Ploughs L. 21,698 . . P
Comoo e SUEE o every 3°60 acves ; there are 22

cows and cow buffaloes to every
100 inhabitants against a district average of 18; and there are
about 9 sheep and goats to every 1,000 acres in oceupation, the
average for the district, as 2 whole, being 17.

" Coondapoor: Population 3,617, of whom 2,765 are Hindus,
493 Musalmans and 359 Christians ; taluk and divisional

ir. HEH
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head-quarters; police station; post office; sub-registrar’s office;
local fund hospital ; distance from Mangalere 53 miles, north. The
town is situated on the south of an esbuary receiving five fresh
water rivers. It was formexly one of the principal ports of the
Bednore Réjas, after the disruption of the Vijayanagar kingdom.
In the sixteenth century, the Portuguese settled here and built a
fort which still exists a little inland from the village, and a strong,
well-built redoubt on the sea face, built by Hyder, commands the

entrance to the river. On this redoubt now stands the Head

Assistant Collector’s office and residence. Tn 1793 General
Matthews landed at Coondapoor and marched against Bednore vid
Hosangadi. After being for a guarter of a century nvnder Mysore,
the town fell to the British In 1799, and was included in the
district of Canara. On the partition of the district in 1860, this
part of it was temporarily attached to Bombay. The town is
healthy, but its frade is languishing. Rice is produced in the
neighbourhood. At no great distance from the town, there was
a tank of fresh water, in which was a kind of fish called by the

natives p# minu or the flower fish. It was reserved for Tippoo’s

use, being large, fat and full of bloed.

Basrfr: Population 1,950, of whom 1,534 are Ifindus, 309
Musalmans and 107 Christians ; post office ; seaport ; distance from
Coondapoor 4 miles, east. It wss once a large walled town with
a fort’and temple, and is mentioned as an important trading place
by all the Arabian geographers. Though now almost deserted,
the walls and water-gates still remain in good preservation.
Basrtir was known amongst the early geographers by the names of
Barcelore, Basilér and Barkalfr, and was supposed by some to be
the Barace of Pliny. A Réni of BasrGr is mentioned by Terishta
as having paid her respects to Sankara Néyak, a Yadava king of
Dévagiri, early in the fourteenth contury. In 1514 Duarte Barbosa
mentions that many ships came to Basr(r from Malabar and
others from Ormuz, Aden and Zeher. The Rani of Gairsappa
ceded Basrfir to Bijaplr between 1570 and 1580, but the cession
never took practical effect, as it was resented by the local underlord
of the Vijayanagar rulers who had by that time become indepen-
dent at Barkir, and asserted his authority successfully, completely
overthrowing the local Jain chiefs. 1In the sixteenth century
Coondapoor or lower Basrfir became the possession of the Por-
tnguese, and early in the eighteenth century a Dutch factory was
also established there. 1In 1764 the Ikkéri Rdjis agreed to exclude
Musalman traders.

Baidar or Baindir: Population 2,157, of whom 1,933 are
Hindus, 177 Musalmans and 46 Christisns ; police station ; sea-
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pert ;- office of sub-registrar; post office; travellers’ bungalow
maintained by the taluk board ; chatrams ; distance from Coonda-
poor 18 miles, north-nerth-west. It had once a fort which belonged
toa Jain princess namoed Baira Dévi. This family was destroyed
by Siva-bhaktars, and the place has ever since been on the decline,
From the ancient temples with inseriptions, BaindGr appears to
have been a place of some importance in the time of Vijayanagar
supremacy and probably at an earlior date. It was mentioned by
Duarte Barbosa in 1514 as exporfing rice to Bhatkal.

Kanddvar: Population 1,011. It is a small Bréhman vil-
lage, from which a section of Canarese Bradhmans takes its name.

Eétéshwar : Population 1,568 ; Kétéshwar is said, in the
Malabar Kéral6lpatti, to have heen the capital of Tulubhan Peru-
mal, the first separate king of Tuluva. It was one of the most
important Brihman settlements at the time of their introduction
by Maytra Varma, or very shortly after.

Shirtix (Viteraliy village of the goddess Takshmi) : Population
748; distance from Coondapoor 20 miles, north-north-west. It
is a small port on a creek which forms the northern limit of the
presidency. The ruins of ancient BhirGr are extensive in the
neighhourhood.

Hosangadi: An insignificant village, 18 miles east-north-
east of Coondapoor; police station ; chatram. It was much used in
the campaigns with Tippoo, as it lies on the route between Bedunore
and the Malabar coast. When General Matthews marched on
Bednore from Coondapoor in 1793, the principal stand was made at
Hosangadi, when the positions were stormed by the 42nd High-
landers. 1t has given its name to a mountain pass, which is
practicable for carts as far as the head of water communication
with the coast.

Uppunda : Population 2,638, of whom 2,546 are Hindus;
distance from Coondapoor 15 miles, north-north-west. There is
an old Hindu temple dedicated to Durga, which confains three
inscriptions of some archaological value.

Sankarandrdyana: Population 2,768, of whom 2,691 are
Hindus ; police station ; 12 miles from Coondapeor and 51 miles
north of Mangalore. There Is a large temple in this village dedi-
cated to Sankarandriyana.

Kirimunéshwar: It is a hamlet of Nigtr village situated 10
miles north-north-west of Coondapoor. It contains a local fund
chatram, and there is a travellers’ bungalow maintained by the
taluk board. The large agrahiram was destroyed about 1790 A.D..
by a band of Mahréttas under Bald Rao.
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Kodachddri: Peak of the Western Ghauts forming the

ébOundary between the Shimoga distriet of Mysore and the Coonda-
‘poor taluk. Height above sca-level 4,411 feet, A well-known
‘landmark. On the Mysore side it rises 2,000 fest from the platean
tand is elothed with magnificent forest. Towards the west it falls
: precipitately to the plain of Canara for 4,000 feet, and affords a
_view as far as the sea. Half-way up is a temple to Huli Déva,

{ the tiger-god. It used to be known to mariners as False Bareelore
! Peak.

Ké6di: Population 2,170 ; distance from Coondapoor 2 miles,
south; from Mangalore 33 miles, north-north-west. It is situated
on the peninsula between the Coondapoor backwater and the sea,
and has a lake of brackish water containing large fish.

Gangéli: Village; port ; population 1,142; distance from
Coondapoor 1} miles, north-north-west. It is situated on the

north bank of the Coondapoor river, near its mouth. Tippoo had
a dock here. 1t is the port of Coondapoor town.

KASARAGOD TALUK.

Tue Késeragdd taluk is the southernmost taluk of the district,
and is bounded on the north by Mangalore and Uppinangadi; on
the east by the Uppinangadi taluk and the province of Goorg ; on
the south by Malabar; and on the west by the sea. The sea-
board is about 55 miles in length, and the greatest breadth from
the sea to the Coorg frontier iz about 26 miles, The estimated
area of the taluk is 1,032 square miles.

The eastern part of the taluk is full of long spurs from the
Western Ghauts, covered with forests.

There are six rivers in the taluk, all of which take their source
in the Western Ghauts and fall into the Arablan Sea.
navigable to a short distance from their mouths.

Along the sea-board there is the usual low-lying sand inter-
sected by backwaters or estuaries, with the usual narrow strip of
sand between the backwaters and the sea. Then come the laterite
hills or plateanx which, near the coast, are like swelling downs, but
farther inland are specially high and often ridge-like with deep
valleys to correspond, thus affording great facilities for areca-nu

They are

‘eultivation, which is carried on more successfully in the valleys

around Vittal to the north-east of the taluk than in any other part
of the district, except the Hannar Mégené of Coondapocr. In the
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northern part of the taluk the hills are very bare, but midway,
and especially between the two branches of the Chendragiri or
Paiswani river, there is a larger amount of good forest, Kumari
is habitually carried on, and the hills, save a certain portion of
bare rocky plateau and the tracts actually under cultivation, are
covered with jungle varying from onc to ten years’ growth. 'The
soil of the southern part of the taluk near the sea is more than
usually sandy, but therc must be a good deal of alluvial soil mixed
with 1% as it bears good crops.

The eastern portion of the taluk is covered with dense forest,
which begins froin 20 to 30 miles from the coast. The hill slopes,
adjoining the areca-nut plantations in the Vittal Magané, consist

of some bare spots of hard laterite plateaux which seem to produce
nothing but thatching grass.

‘Wild animals are found near the slopes of the Western Ghauts.
The bison and the sambar are very frequently met with all along
the line of the ghéts. The porcupine and the scaly ant-eater are
not infrequent. The flying fox (Pleropus medius) has established
flourishing colonics at Kumbla, Oysters are met with all along the
coast, a large kind being found at Mogral near Kumbla.

The communiecations of the Késaragdd taluk are extensive and
continue to progress under the taluk board.
The roads are as follows :—

MILES.

No. 3 from Pane-Mangalore to the Malabar fron-
tier . e - . - .. 7
No. 3-A from Kangangid river to Hosdrdg .. 3
No. 6 from Puattar to Manjéshwar (vid Vittal) .. 24
No. 7 from Perdal to Kumbla .. e .. 10
. No. 8 from Késaragsd to Jalsdr .. .. 1
No. 22 Coast road .. .. . . . 87

Torar .. 196

The roads are now all under the management of the taluk
board, but the old numbering of the district board has not yet
been changed. The mileage is greater than that of any of the
other taluks of the distriet, and in addition, the northern frontier
of the taluk from Pane-Mangalore to Jalsir is skirted by the main
road from Mangalore to Mercara, which in fact enters the taluk
here and there though it is classed as an Uppinangadi road. On
the other hand, the mileage of roads Nos. 3 and 22 is illusory, the
last 20 miles or so of road No. 8 never having been properly opened
out owing to the traffic all going by water after the Kangangid
river is reached. From the same cause the last 18 miles of the
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coast road (No. 22) arc left in their original sandy state for the
use of a few foot-passengers. Until within the last few years
other soctions of the coast road were similarly neglected, but the
worst stretchos of sand between Mangalore and Hosdrag, from
which there is water communieation with Malabar, have now been
gravelled and carts travel freely along the road, which in a fow years
will be in as good a state as a road can bo which is erossed by a
namber of large rivers and backwaters and for the bridging of
which funds are not forthcoming. The road from Pane-Manga-
lore to the Malabar frontier was constructed as a military road to
be bridged throughout and kept open all fhe year round, but it is
very circuitous and passes through so inhospitable a country that
ordinary traffic prefors the coast road despite its backwaters. There
is, however, a certain amount of local traffic on the voad, and it is
well worth keeping up with a moderate annual maintenance allow-
ance. Several of the bridges have fallen down, having been built,
for the sake of economy, with the laterite available on the spot,
which turned out to be unfit for bridge work. Road No. 8 from
Jalstir to Kasaragdd is a useful road, as it brings traffic direet from
Coorg as well as from the interior of the taluk fo the port of
Késaragéd. The remaining two roads bring the produce of the
interior to the ports of Manjéshwar and Kumbla.

In addition to its roads the Késaragdd taluk has considerable
facilities for water communication, viz. ;—

MILES,
From Pane-Mangalore to Mangalore . .. 18
From Hosdrig to the Malabar frontier .. 20

TorarL .. &8

The above are the only two water routes which are in direct
communication with roads (the Mangalore and coast roads in parti-
cular), but all except the smallest rivers are mnavigable for some
distance inland for boats carrying 8 tons or even more. Thus the
Uppala river to the south of Manjéshwar is navigable for about
4 miles to Majbail in the dry weather and to Paivilike, or about
6 miles, in the wet season. The Shire river is navigable at all
seasons for about 10 miles fo Bidar, and a few miles farther in the
wet season. Boats go up the Mogral river for about 4 miles, and
the Chendragiri river is navigable for 10 miles to Shavikere on the
Paiswani branch, or Kudumplr on the Pilar branch. The Békal
and Chittari rivers can scarcely be called navigable, but small boats
go up about 2 miles, Three navigable rivers find their outlet at
Kavoy. The first, the Kangangéd river, has already bheen men-
tioned as being navigable for about 20 miles, and the next branch,
the Kanhangéd river, is navigable as far as Kunhangai, about
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the same distance from the sea, or 9 miles from the junction.
The third river only skirts the Canara frontier for a few miles.

The Késaragdd taluk originally formed the southern portion of
the ancient Tuluva kingdom, and was separated from the kingdom
of Kérala by the Chendragiri river which was formerly ecalled
¢ Perumpula”  One of the four Brdhman governors who were
appointed by Maybra Varma had his seat at Késaragéd. In the
taluk will be found the ruins of several forts built by Sivappa
Ndyak of Bednore between 1650 and 1670 A.D. The two forts
at Békal and Chandragiri were originally under the Kollatiri or
Chirakkal R4jds until the time of Sivappa Niyak’s invasion, after
which they formed part of South Canara. The territory of the
B4jés of Niléshwar, who were a branch of the family of the
Zemorin of Calicut, was annexed in 1787 during the reign of
Somasdlkhara Niyak.

The taluk lies in the General Duty Deputy Collector’s division,
whose head-quarters are at PuttGr in the Uppinangadi taluk.
The chief local revenue officer is the tahsildar (salary Rs. 200).
He is also a magistrato, bub the greater part of the magisterial
work is done by the stutionary sub-magistrate at Kasaragéd.
There is a deputy tahsildar at Hosdrtig in eharge of the Niléshwar
division. The taluk is divided into 24 miganés which are sub-
divided into 243 villages, all of which are inhabited. The taluk
forms a single police division under an ingpector, and is divided
into eight police-station charges. In respect to civil actions it is
situated within the jurisdiction of the district munsif of Késaragdd.

The population in 1891 was 280,659, of whom 187,600 were
males and 143,059 females. Hindus number 216,946, Musalmans
56,731, and Christians 6,731. The population has increased by
1508 per cent. since 1881, and there are mow 272 persons to
the square mile. The number of oceupied houses is 50,890, and
there are on an average 552 inmates to each house. Of the
male population 8590 per cent. are illiterate, 10°77 per cent. can
read and write and 3-33 per cenf. are learning. Of the females
08-86 per cent. are illiterate. Canarese is the mother-tongue of
21,057, Tuln that of 83,475, Hindustani that of 2,213, Konkani
that of 13,129, Marithi that of 11,956 and Malaydlam that of
148,132.  Classified by means of subsistence the population eon-
sists of 114,839 landholders and tenants, 47,461 agricultural
lahourers, 44,400 general labourers, 32,058 traders, 4,015 weavers,
16,719 other artisans and 21,077 ¢ others.’

The area of ryotwdri land in the faluk is 659,100 acres, and
that of minor indms is 1,400, Of the ryotwéri land about 41,000
acres are under forest and 494,000 acres are not available for
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cultivation.  Of the remainder 95,900 acres are in occupation, and
the area available for extension of cultivation is thus 28,200 acres.
The area cropped in 1892-93 was 90,600 acres of ryotwari land
and 1,100 acres of minor indm, or about (-33 of an acre per head
of the population. Including the area cropped more than onee the
extent was 120,800 acres. Rioce is the principal erop and is grown
on nearly 101,400 acres. There are about 14,000 acres under
orchard and garden produce, 969 acres under condiments and
spices and 840 acres under tohaceo. There were in that year
14,758 single pattds, of which 9,983 were for sums below Hs. 10.
The normal land revenue of the taluk is Ra. 2,45,800, and the
cosses charged on land revenue amount to Rs. 33,280.

The agricultural stock in the taluk is shown in the margm.
Interpreting ploughing eattle fo

Bulls and bullocks ... ... 47,223
L;‘“Z " ® N .. 850513 mean bulls, bu]l?cks and 'male
Male buﬁffaloes 30:(5}33 buffaloes, there is one pair to
Cow buffaloes e B " . N . . .
Young stock ... 36:325 9V61y1.34f7 GCres 1n oco_apatlon,
%llxeep and goats ... .. 64;58 the district average being one
onghs .. 63,24 . . . -
Carts oo P pair bo 3°60 acres s theve are 15

cows and cow buffaloes to every
100 inhabitants against a distriet average of 18; and there are 31
sheep and goats to each 1,000 acres in cccupation, the average for
the district as a whole being 17.

Kasaragéd (kasara, wild buffalo, and kédu, peak): Popula-
tion 5,943 ; taluk head-quarters ; post office ; travellers’ bungalow ;
TIocal fund hospital ; sub-registrar’s office ; chatram ; distance from
Mangalore 27 miles. It is built on the Chandragiri river. "When
the country along the coast was divided by Mayfra Varma into
64 sections under different Brihman governors, this was one of
the four centres. It formed the southernmost post of the ancient
Tuluva kingdom, and was also the site of one of the mosques
built in the niath century by Chéramin Perumél, the ruler of
Malahar, who became a convert fo. Muhammadanism. A fort
built by Sivappa Néyak, when he subdued the petty Rajés of
Tuluva, is now in total ruins.

Kumbla: A small port 19 miles south of Mangalore; popu-
lation 2,620 ; police station; travellers’ bungalow (local fund);
chatram ; distance from Késaragod 9 miles, north-north-west.
The town stands on a bold peninsula in a lagoon separated from
the sea by a sand spit and communieating with it by a narrow
channel, on which the village of Kannipurarm is situated. It was
once a considerable town, but now decayed. The R4j4 of Kum-
bla, whose ancestors ruled the southern part of Tuluva and who
is now a Goovernment pensioner, resides at a small distance. In
1514 Duarte Barbosa visited the port and recorded that he found
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the people exporting a very bad brown rice to the Maldives in
exchange for coir. Farly in the sixteenth century the port paid a
tribute of 800 loads of rice to the Portuguese. After the capture
of Mangalore by Tippoo, the R4j4 fled to Tellicherry, but returned
in 1799 when ke had thoughts of asserting independence, but he
soon submitted and accepted a small pension. There is a fort
Luilt by the Ikkéri Réjds. At the gate of this fort is an inserip-
tion in Canarese recording the erection of the fort by a Nayak.

Niléshwar or Nilakante Ishwarem : Population 9,842, of
whom 8,275 are Hindus and 1,567 Musalmans; post offiee;
chatram ; distance from Késaragdéd 19 miles, It is the southern-
most town of (anara and the old limit of Kéralam. It was
formerly under a Chief belonging to the Kollatiri or Chirakkal
family of Malabar until it was annexed by Soémasékhara Nayak
of Bednore in 1737, after a struggle of twelve years in which the
French and English took part. When the Bednoreans began to
invade the Niléshwar territory, the Niléshwar R4j4 was alded by
the English who had a factory at Tellicherry. In 1737 a treaty

was concluded by which the Bednoreans agreed not to advance

south of the Vallarpatnam river, and the English obtained com-
mercial advantages including a monopoly of the pepper and
cardamoms in the portions of the Kollatiri dominions occupied by
the Bednore people. The fort at Niléshwar, however, remained
in the hands of the R4j4. and he allied himself with the French,
who held the port on his behalf till 1761, DBy that time Bednore
had fallen to Ilyder and the R4j4 remained in power at Nilésh-
war till the English annexed the country in 1799, when he
submitted and aceepted a pension.

Manjéshwar (mancha, bed-stead, and ishrcara, lord) : Popu-
lation 2,608 ; travellers’ bungalow (loeal fund); post office ; loeal
fund hospital ; sub-registrar’s office ; port; distance from Manga-
lore 12 miles south, and from Késaragéd 16 miles north-north-
west ; situated at the mouth of a small stream on an inlet of the
Arabian Sea. It is a large straggling town, the southern portion
of which stands on a plain and the northern on a steep bank that
overhangs the river. These two portions were held by the petty
Jain Bangar R4j4 and the Vittal R4j4 respectively, until Tippoo
hanged the former and forced the latter to take refuge with the
English at Tellicherry. Manjéshwar was plundered by the pirates
of Angria in 1765. In 1800 Buchanan found the Konkani
merchants of Manjéshwar in a flourishing condition. There is an
old Jaina asti hers.

Vittal: Population 2,834, of whom 2,310 are Hindus and
311 Musalmans ; post office ; sub-registrar’s office; chatrams ;
11, 11
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CHAP. XIX. distance from Mangalore 19 miles, and from Késaragéd 194 miles,

Kdsaracép. north-north-east. It is the family seat of the Vittal Heggades.

Places of During the Mysore ascendency the Heggade fled to Tellicherry,

intevest. but returning after the death of Tippoo, he collected & number of
followers and allied himscl with Subba Rao whe had set up =
natural sor of Tippoo as = pretender to the Mysore throne.
Subba Rao was finally defeated in July 1860 by the tahsildar of
Kadaba and the Vittal Heggade came to terms. The represen-
tative of the family now receives a small pension. The temple of
Panchalingésvara is of great antiquity, but most of the present
buildings are quite modern.

Chandragiri (chandre, moon, and giri, hill) : Population 1,410,
of whom 700 are Hindus and 710 Musalmans; distance from
Mangalore 29 miles, and from Késaragéd 2 miles, south-sonth-
east. It is a large square fort, situated high zbove the river on
its southern bank. It was built, like the other forts, by Sivappa
Néyal, the first prince of the house of the Tkkéri Réjas who estab-
lished his authority in this part of Camara. The river on which
it stands is shallow, but very wide, and formed the southerm
boundary of the ancient Tuluva kingdom. The Néyar and other
females of the Késaragéd taluk of South Canara are prohibited
from crossing this river.

Békal (8¢, burning, and kallu, stone) : Population 5,090 ; poliee
etation ; travellers’ bungalow ; distance from Mangalore 34 miles,
and from Késaragéd 74 miles, sonth-south-east. It eontains the
largest and best preserved fort in the district, sitaated om head-
land running into the ses with fine bay towards the south. It
was built by Sivappa Niyak of Bednore between 1625 and
1670 A.D. The fortifications are said to bear traces of European
seience. This tract was anciently under the Kadamba dynasty,
and subsequently became part of Vijayanagar. On the destruc-
tion of the latter at Talikéta in 1565, it was seized by the Réja
of Bednore and gave its name to a sub-division of that kingdom.
It fell to Hyder Ali in 1763, and, on the overthrow of Tippoo in
1799, was incorporated with the dominions of the Fast India
Company. The present Késaragdd taluk was known as Békal for
more than half a century. ' '

Udiydvara (udaya, rising, and purs, town) : Population 2,054,
of whom 1,140 are Musalmans ; post office ; distance from Manga-
lore 93 miles, and from Késaragéd 18 miles, north-north-east. It
is a Méppilia viilage.

Hosdrig (kosa, new, and drig, fort, i.e., Pudiyakit as it is
called in Malabar) : Population 4,581 ; deputy tahsildar’s station ;
sub-registrar’s office; local fund dispensary; travellers’ bunga-
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jow (local fund); distance from Mangalore 41 miles, and from
Kisarag6d 15 miles, south. There is a large ruined fort built by
the Tkkéri R4jas. It occupies a fine rising ground, looks well at
a distance and commands a noble prospect. The bastions being
round, it must have been more capable of defence than the native
forts in general, in which the defences are usually square.

Adfr: 17 miles east of Késaragdd. The village contains the
vemains of an old sculptured Siva temple, fabled to have been
founded by Arjurna. It is said to have been repaired about 500
years ago.

Madniir or Hdeu: 35 miles north-east of Késaragdd ; travel-
lers” bungalow on the main road. There is an old fort in the
village known as the fort of the * Mayilarasu.’

Maddir: 4 miles north-north-east of Késaragéd; private
chatram where meals are supplied free. This village also
conbains a large fort known as the fort of the ‘ Mayilarasu.’

MANGALORE TALUK.

ManeaLorE 18 the most central of the coast faluks, the Canara
sea-board to the south of it being about 55 miles in length, and
that to the north 58 miles. It is bounded on the north by Udipi;
on the east by Mysore and the Uppinangadi taluk; on the south
by Késaragéd; and on the west by the sea. It has about 25
miles of sea-board from 8 miles north of Malki to 5 miles south
of the Nétravati, but its average length is not so much, Its
greatest breadth is about 82 miles, and it is nowhere less than
27. Its estimated area is about 620 square miles.

There are three rivers in the taluk, of which the Nétravati
and Gurpfr are alone of any importance. They are all navigable
to a short distance from their mouths.

The country presents the usual appearance, a low-lying plain
near the coast extending up the larger river valleys, two of which
are especially large, and behind that laterite hills and plateaux
rising to a height of nearly 400 feet chequered with numberless
streams and valleys, and out-crops of boulders or even ridges of
granite gneiss. Still further inland come the spurs from the
ghéts in the north-castern part of the taluk which alone ap-
proaches the ghdts., The laterite plateaux in the Mangalore
{aluk are very extensive and bare, notably the Madabidri plain
which extends for many miles and is of a beautiful vivid green
in the wet season, but burnt up and arid looking in the hot weather.
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The forests of the taluk are not very extensive, but large
guantities of firewood and cashew-nuts are grown in the kumaki
lands adjoining the cultivated fields. The natural forest of the
taluk, except in the interior, has been coppiced so constantly for
leaves for manure, thal in many places it has disappeared alto-
gether ; but, as a consequence of this, special care is now bestowed
on the conservancy of the ¢ kumakis’ and hill-slopes adjoining
cultivation, so that nowhere, except on the large upland plains
above referred to, is there any absence of trees to refresh the eye
in the driest weather.

There are altogether 164 miles of road in the taluk distributed
as follows :—
. MILES.

(1) Road No. 1, Sampaji ghit road .. . 15
(2) Road No. 4, Kodekal ghét road .. .. oo 21
(3) Road No. 5, Agumbi ghdt road .. . e. 30
{4) Road Ne. 10, from Midlki to Midabidri .. o 15
(5) Road No. 10-A, from Miadabidri to Beltangadi .. 20
{6) Road No. 10-B, to Mdlki bazaar .. . I |
(7) Road No. 11, from Bantval to Mddabidri .. 18
(8) Road No. 22, Coastroad .. e .. 20
(9) Road No. 23, fromm Mangalore to Mdlki vid Bajps 16

(10) Road No. 24, Mangalore road circuit .. .. 10

——

Torar .. 164

The first three roads are the three main lines of through
communication of the distriet and are under the management of
the distriet board. The Bampaji ghit road or the trunk line
from Marngalore to Bangalore vid Mercara enters the taluk at the
Nétravati river about 15 miles from Mangalore. Shortly before
this the Kodekal ghét road starts from it keeping to the northern
bank of the Nétravati and enters the Uppinangadi taluk 21 miles
further on. The Agumbi ghat road leaves Mangalore in a north-
easterly direction and runs 30 miles towards Kérkal #i¢ Gurptr
and Mtdabidr: before leaving the faluk. The old avenues of
Vateria Indica (Dipada mara) on the road are still very fine in
places. Cf the roads under the taluk board, probably the most
important is the road from Mangalore to Malki on the coast.
The old coast road was practically abandoned under the policy
adopted by the Public Works Department in South Canara, and
an inland road 24 miles in length against 17 by the old coast road
was made vid Bajpé joining the road from Madabidri to Mflki 15
miles from Mangalore. This road (No. 23) is now much used,
but it is circuitous -and very hilly, and in addition to the large
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Gurpér river it is crossed by two streams at Yekkar and Katila
which are too small for ferries and yet cannot be bridged except at a
large outlay. The taluk board, therefore, determined to re-open
the old coast road with some modifications ; this is only 18 miles in
length and passes through a much more populous country. There
are two large ferries instead of one, but the disadvantage is more
than counterbalanced by the shortness and ease of the route.

The water communications in connection with roads are as
follows :—
MILES.
(1) Road No. 1, from Mangalore to Pane-Mangalore,
and Road No. 4, from Mangalore to Bantvil ., 18
(2) Road No. 5, from Mangalore to Gurpir .. ve 10

These lines of water communication, especially the former, are
very extensively used for rice and all other articles of traffic from
Mulki. Coffee consigned to European firms or native firms working
on the European method always comes all the way by road, but
that consigned to ordinary mative traders frequently comes by
water from Pane-Mangalore and Bantvdl. There is also commu-
nication by backwater along the coast from Mangalore to
Panambir, a distance of & miles, and from Mukka to Malki or
Hejmadia, 6 miles. _

The taluk lies in the head-quarter division. The chief local
revenue officer is the tahsildar (salary Bs. 225). He isalso a
magistrate, but the bulk of the magisterial work is performed
by the stationary sub-magistrate at Mangalore. The taluk forms
two police divisions, each under an inspector, and is divided into
thirteen police-station charges. In respect to civil actions it is
situated within the jurisdiction of the distriet munsif of Manga-
lore. The number of villages, including the town of Mangalore,
is 309, and all but one are inhabited.

The population of the taluk in 1891 was 278,908, of whom
137,166 were males and 141,742 females. Hindus number
201,287, Musalmans 30,670, Christians 41,645 and Jains 5,242,
The population has increased by 11-99 per cent. since 1881 and
there are now 450 persons to the square mile. The number of
occupied houses is 48,982 and there are on an average 569 inmates
to each house. Of the male population 8509 per cent. are illi-
terate, 10°27 per cent. can read and write and 4'64 per cent. are
learning. Of the females 97-82 per cent. are illiterate. Canarese
is the mother-tongue of 11,256 persons, Tulu that of 168,166,
Konkani that of 68,839, Malayilam that of 27,689 and Hindu-
stani that of 6,116. Classified by means of subsistence the
population consists of 120,861 landholders and tenants, 24,849
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agricaltural labourers, 61,854 general labourers, 34,442 traders,
1,911 weavers, 19,626 other artisans and 25,374 persons of various
other callings.

The area of ryoficdri Jand in the taluk is 895,200 acres, and
that of minor indms is 1,656, There are neither whole indms nox
zeminddris. Of the ryotwéri land about 86,800 acres are under
forest and 167,100 acres are not available for cultivation. Of the
remainder 115,300 acres are in oecupation, and the area available
for extension of cultivation isthus 76,100 acres. The area cropped
in 1892-93 was 101,900 acres of ryotwdri land. Inecluding the
area cropped more than once the extent was 164,900 acres. There
were in that year 11,585 single pafids, of which 4,981 were for
sums below Rs. 10. The normal land revenne of the taink is
Rs. 8,59,500, and the cesses charged on land revenue amount to
Rs, 42,400.

The agricultural stock in the Government villages is shown in

the marginal table. Interpret-

guﬂs and bullocks ... .. §i§9§ ing ploughing ecattie to mean

owWSs ... e BT

Male buffaloes 07 4gyys bulls, bullocks and male buffa-

({EOW bﬂﬁakfs 33,353 loes, thercis one pair to every
oung stock 4,75 . .

Sheepg R - 4'.28 acres 1in c(}cupa.tlon, the

grloeutss1 Sg,ggg district average being one pair to
ougng ‘es aes ave -kt 3

Carto oo loss O°60 acres; there are 14 cows

and cow buffaloes to every 100
inhabitants against a district average of 18; and there are 28
sheep and goats to each thousand acres in oceupation, the average
for the district as a whole being 17.

As in Canara generally rice is the staple product, while
cocoanut plantations abound on the ecoast and areca-nut planta-
tions in the villages adjoining the ghéits and tfo some extent in
the villages draining the laterite plateaux which spread from the
ghéts to within a few miles of the coast line. In the best rico
lands two and even three crops are grown, but in many of them
after a first crop of rice there is grown one of some kind of gram,
or of beans, dholl or gingelly. Ragi is grown mainly on hill-
sides unsuited for ordinary rice cultivation, and in some parts of
the taluk, especially within 10. or 15 miles from Mangalore, this
kind of cultivation is becoming extensive and includes consider-
able gquantities of turmeriec and chillies and different kinds of
vegetables, hesides a certain amount of hill-rice. Sugar-cane is
grown here and there, all over the taluk, in rice lands which do
not le too low to admit of drainage.

Mangalore: Population 40,922, of whom 23,398 are Hindus,
7,684 Musalmans and 9,845 Christians, Mangalore or Kodiél
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Bandar is the head-quarters of the Collector, Judge, tabsildar,
deputy tahsildar, district munsif and district registrar; post and
telegraph station; travellers’ bungalow; hospital and chatram
maintained by the municipality ; sea-port; municipal town;
distance from Madras 370 miles west, from Bombay 418 miles
south, Mangalore is said to have been the scat of one of the
four Bréhman governors appointed in the eighth eentury, and of
a Wodear appointed by Harithara Réya of Vijayanagar in 1336,
but in old days, it seems to have boen the eommerecial rather than
the political eapital of Tuluva or South Canara. In 1342 it was
visited by Ibn Batuta, who stated that there were merchants of
Persia and Yemen there then, and in 1514 it was deseribed by
Barbosa as a very large town, peopled by Moors and Gentiles whe
shipped rice and pepper. He was struck by the beauty of the
site and the fine buildings. Vaseo de Gama blockaded the
Mangalore river in 1524, and it was taken by the Portuguese in
1526, Francisean friars beginving to preach in the same year in
the town and its neighbourhood. Within a few years the Portu-
guese made themselves masters of the whole coast and levied
tribute from all the ports, the amount contributed by Mangalore
being two thousand four hundred loads of riee and one thonsand
of oil. Although temporarily taken by the Portuguese and partly
occupied by them afterwards, the native town continued to be
held by the Bangar whose family had been receognized as under-
lords by the Vijayanagar dynasty. When the Ikké&i dynasty
eame into power the position of the Bavgar as an ally of the
Portuguese became critical, and he hed to flee to Kisaragéd, but
he recovered his position when the Ikkéri ruler became friendly
with the Portuguese in 1631, and remained in power until the
final fall of the family in the time of Hyder. A Portuguese
factory was established at Mangalore in 1670, and in 1695 the
town was burned by the Arvabs in retaliation for the restrie-
tions imposed by the Portugunese on Arab trade. Harly in-the
eighteenth century the Portuguese were expelled by the Ikkérior
Bednore ruler, but they came to termsin 1714 when a Portugueso
factory was again established. The fort of Mangalore, which is
now in ruins, was built by Basavappa Néyak of the Ikkéri dynasty
between 1739 and 1754. In 1760 Mangalore was taken possession
of by Hyder immediately after the fall of Bednore, and he at
once established naval dockyards ard an arsenal. In 1768 it was
captured by an Bnglish expedition from Bombay, but abandoned
shortly afterwards. It was again captured in 1791 and besicged
by Tippoo in 1793. After a heroic defence under Celonel Camp-
bell it surrendered on the 30th Januvary 1794, and the fort was
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demolished by order of Tippoo Sultan. The town again came
into the hands of the English after the fall of Seringapatam in
1799. Since that time the only disturbance has been during the
Coorg insurrection in 1837, when the rcbels entered the town
and burnt the cuteherry. The Xast India Company held a
monopoly from the Réj4 of the magazines here for sandalwood
growing on the Mysore hills.

The town is picturesque, clean and prosperous. The native
houses are laid out in good strects, and the European quarter is
particularly pleasant. Like all the towns on the Malabar coast,
Mangalore is buried amid groves of cocoanut palms. Situated on
the backwater formed by the convergent mouths of the Nétravati
and Gurpdr rivers, it has water on three sides of it. Large vessels
cannot cross the bar into the harbour ; but Arabian bigdlas and
country craft enter in considerable numbers. The lighthouse
is merely a harbour light 1} miles east-north-east of the river
entrance. The Mangala Dévi temple, which gives its name to
the town, is an old one. There is a large native Roman Catholie
population with a European Bishoprie, several churches, a convent
and two colleges. A few miles north is found a deposit of fine

porcelain clay closely resembling that of which Sevres ware is

formed. The Basel Lntheran Mission has its head-quarters hers,
and has done muech good in teaching trades and industries.
Good cloth is woven at their establishment; the making of roof
tiles, printing and binding are also taught.

The great article of export is rice, more than three-fourths
of the whole produce being sent to Muscat, Goa, Bombay and
Malabar. DBetel-nut, coffee, black pepper, sandalwood, cassia and
turmeric are also exported. Salt is not manufactured, but is im-
ported from Bombay and Goa. Raw silk for the use of the manu-
facturers above the ghéts and sugar are imported from Bengal
and China, and oil and ghee from Surat. In Hyder’s reign
the principal merchants were MAppillas and Konkanis, Many
men of property have, however, come since then from Surat, Cuteh,

Bombay and other places to the north. These persons are chiefly

of the Bania caste, but there are also some P4rsis. The vessels
employed in trade generally belong to other ports. The town is a
healthy one, but good water is only procurable in the dry season,
and even then it is always more or less impregnated with irons
from the laterite through which it percolates. The small tanks in
the neighbourhood are seldom dry, though in the hot weather the
surface of the water becomes covered with slimy vegetable matter.

Aldangadi: The family seat of the old Jain chief known

‘as the Ajalar.
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Muadbidri or more correctly Mudaludri : Population 921;
police station; local fund dispensary; sub-registrar’s office ;

chatram for native travellers; distance from Mangalore 18

miles. 1t is now a hamlet composed of portions of Prantiya and
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Potigi villages though onee a populous town. Next to Karkal -
Mtdabidri is the most important Jaina town in South Canara, and -

the temple of Chandranéth is the finest temple of the kind in the

district. Tt is the family seat of the old Jaina chief known as
the Chowtar, of whom a representative still remains and draws .
a small pension from Government. DBeing an important Jain |
centre, it is visited by pilgrims even from Guzerit and other |

distant places. There are eighteen bdastis ox Jaina temples, and
a math ocoupied by one of the chief gurus of that sect. The
bastis illustrate the attempt to copy wooden forms which charac-
terizes all Hindu stone-workings, especially those on the west
coast. There are also tombs of Jain priests, lofty erections of

several storeys, and interesting as being some of the few Hindu .

tombs in Southern India. The r4jd’s old palace has an insignifi-

cant appearance, as the roof is made only of thatch, but the stone
sculptures inside are of a superior order. There is a handsomely -
carved wooden roof. The wallg are carved with paintings. There

is an old bridge near the Jain besfi' illustrating the efforts of
Hindus to bridge a stream.

Ulldl: Population 5,703; post office; distanee from Manga-
lire 2 miles. It is situated on the south bank of the Nétravati
river, and was formerly the seat of a petty Jain prince. Of all
the petty states into which Canara was divided In ancient times,
the kingdom of Ull4]l appears from its ruins to have taken the
lead in royal pomp and splendour. The following monuments of
her aneient glory may be mentioned :—(1) 'The ruins of a fort
or palace about a mile or so to the south of the ferry, to the left
side of the road leading to Manjéshwar; (2) the temple of Sém-
ndth, not far from the above ruins, containing beautiful sculptures
after the pattern of Italian art, & knowledge of which is supposed
to have been spread among the natives by a Florentine artist who
visited India about the fifteenth or sixteenth century; (3) the fort of
Uchil about 6 miles to the south of the ferry—one of the strong-
holds, probably of the Queen of Ulldl; (4) the palace of Manel
supposed to be the ordinary residemce of the queen—situated
beyond Gurpir—mnoted for its manufacture of earthen pots,
whence perhaps the name. Other monuments of less importance,
such ag ruined temples and neglected slabs, are also found—all
which tend to show that Ulldl was once a powerful state able to

! For a description of the bastis and tombs, see pp. 87-91 of vol. i'of this Manual.

I, XK
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hold its own agaiust the encroachments of neighbonring states.
In the seventesnth century the Queen of UllAl sided with the
Fekéri and Bednore family against the Bangar of Mangalore. .

Bolar: Population 1,256; situated on the banks of the
Gurplr river. It is a suburb of Mangalore containing a bhattery
constructed by Tippoo Sultan of granite rock.

Bantvdl: Population 3,551, of whom 2,395 are Hindus, 785
Musalmans and 154 Christians ; police station ; post office ; deputy
tahsildar’s station ; local fund hospital ; sub-registrar’s offiee;
distance from Mangalore 14 miles, east. 1t is built on the northern
bank of the Nétravati river which is so far navigable by boats. The
river bed is here encumbered with masses of hornblende rock, eon-
taining mica and garnets, syenite and a beautiful pegmatite, with
flesh-coloured erystals of felspar. During the war with Tippoo the
town of Bantval was partially destroyed by the R4j4 of Coorg, who

~ carried off half the inhabitants as prisoners. It was formerly the

head-quarters of a taluk of the same name. The taluk was dismem-
bered in 1852, and merged in the present Mangalore taluk. It
possesses considerable traffie, being an entrepét for the produce of
Mysore on its way to the coast and eice rersé. 'There is a wealthy
temple dedicated to Venkatramana, owned by Konkani Brahmans, in
which a car festival is celebrated annually in the month of March.

Kadre : Village ; population 1,677 ; distance from Mangalore
21 miles, north-east. It has an old temple dedicated to Sri
Manjunédda and a Jogi math. Just above the temple are mine
tanks which are eonsidered very sacred, and in which all pilgrims
to the holy shrine invariably bathe before entering the temple.

Farangipet: A bamlet, being portions of Arkfila snd Pada
villages ; distance from Mangalore 7 miles, east. It lies on the
north bank of the Nétravati river and has a travellers’ bungalow,
a police station, a military encamping ground and an old churek
and convent built during the Portuguese settlement. It is so
called from its having formerly been chiefly inhabited by the
Konkani Christians who were invited to reside here by the princes
of the house of Ikkéri. It was formerly a large town, but was
destroyed by Tippoo who carried away its inhabitants.

Gurptr: A hamlet of Mullar village ; distance from Manga-~
lore 8 miles, north-east ; sitnated on river of the same name ; police
station ; travellers’ bungalow. The r4jd’s palace, known as the
‘matham ’ is an interesting building. The windows of the old
zenansa are elaborately pierced and earved.

Mijdr : Population 2,608 ; distance from Mangalore 13 miles,
north-north-east. Gold has been found on a hill called Mundabetta
in the neighbouring village of Yedapadavu.
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Suratkal: Population 2,770 ; police station ; private chatram ;
distance from Mangalore 9 miles, north-north-west. It has a
temple on a high rock on the sea-shore. A car festival is annually
celebrated at the end of December, when there is a large gathering
of people from several adjoining villages.

MAlki (%4t pertaining to civil administration): Town con-
sisting of Bépanid, Kasha bazaar and a portion of Ménambidi
village; port; population 38,776 ; police station; sub-registrar’s
office ; local fund dispensary; travellers’ bungalow; chatram;
distance from Mangalore 16 miles, north. It is situated on an
inlet of the sea reteiving the Sémbavati., The water is too
shallow to admit large vessels, but small fishing and coasting eraft
find shelter here. Opposite the mouth of the inlet is a group of
islets known as the Malki or Premeira rocks. The town was
formerly the seat of a petty kingship subdued by the Bednore
R4j4 in the beginning of the seventeenth century. If has a con-
siderable trade in rice, and is the seat of the Basel Mission. Here
the New Testament was translated into Tulu, A weekly fair
is held every Saturday. There is & Jaina basti, besides twe
Hindu temples belonging to the Konkani and Shivalli Bréhmans,
respectively.

Yéntr: Population 421 ; distance from Mangalore 24 miles,
east-north-east. It is one of the few remaining Jaina villages,—
now very small, but must once have been a flourishing and splendid
centre, judging from the remains of palaces and buildings, and the
colossal statue which still stands there. The statue is placed on
an elevated terrace on the south bank of the Gurplr river, which
is here about 20 yards broad and runs over a rocky bed. The
terrace rises about 50 feet above the river-bed, and the image is
enclosed by a square wall 7 or 8 feet high, with massive
eovered entrance, forming a good-sized gquadrangle, in the midst of
which it stands, on a stone plinth of two stages placed on a plat-
form 4 or 5 fest in height. Tt is 35 feet high and is one of
the three as yet known., The natives say that this statue was cut
and wrought at a spot 3 or 4 miles distant from where it now
stands and on the other side of the river; if so its transport to its
present site must have been a marvel of engineering skill. Both
this and the Ké4rkal image are traditionally said to have been
sculptured by Jakkanachdri, a kind of Hindu Weyland the Smith, to
whom remarkable works in stone are popularly aseribed : probably
he was a workman of extraordinary excellence. Hoe is traditionally
said fo have wrought the statue at this place with a single hand,
one being disabled ; hence its lesser size.?

* For a description of the statue, see p. 37 of the Indsan Antiguary vol. v.
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There are two or three Jaina temples in the village, of no
great size, nor specially distinguished for architecture or sculpture.
Adjoining one of these temples is a small building or sacellum
containing the twenty-four Tirthankaras in a row, all of the same
size, about 2 feet high, cut in black stone, cach under a horse-
shoe shaped areh elaborately wrounght from the same material.
The building containing them is poor and mean with a thatched
roof, but is entered by a doorway quite a wonder of exquisite and
beautiful workmanship set in a common rough stone wall. TIn
front of the temple stands a wonderful Jain pillar® There
are in all eight Jaina and one Brihmanical temple. A car festival
is celebrated annually in the prineipal temple early in March.
The statue 13 ancinted once in every sixty years. The last abhi~
shékam (or anointing ceremony) was performed in March 1887.

UDIFI TALUK.

Tue Udipi taluk lies between the Coondapoor and Mangalore
talnks, the former being to the north and the latfer to the south
of it. It is bounded on the west by the sea and on the east by
Mysore, the boundary line being the summit of the ghéts though
the line comes nearly half-way down the slopes here and there.
The sea-board is about 30 miles long and the average length may
be taken ag the same, the average breadth being about 26 miles.
The estimated area is 787 square miles.

The taluk has three large rivers, the Sitanadi and the Swarna-
nadi, which join to form the backwater at Hangarkatta, and the
Udayévar river which falls into the sea at Malpe after skirting
the coast for several miles.

These backwaters and estuaries with their fertile banks and
islands covered with cocoanut or sugar-cane plantations form an
important feature of the coast line of the taluk, and the broad valleys
of the rivers stretch far inland with many square miles of rice
fields. The usnal laterite hills and plateaux with their myriads of
valleys and boulders of granite gneiss make up the landscape until
we come to the forest-clad spurs from the ghéts. The outerops
of gneiss are particularly marked in the neighbourhood of Kérkal
and the sonth-eastern part of the taluk generally.

The hills except those near the ghits have been to a very
large extent cleared of even scrub jungle by cultivators, buf near

2 For a detailed deseription of the doorway and pillar, reference should be
mads to pp. 38-39 of vol. v. of the Indian Antiquary.
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the coast special attention is now being paid to *kumakis’ and
privately conserved jungles on the slopes near eultivation.

The road system of the taluk is fairly complete and most of
the roads are well laid out and kept in good order. There are
eleven of them with a total length of 177 miles as follows :-—

MILES.
(1) Road No. 5, Agumbi to Mangalore (port) .. 28
(2) Road No. 5-A, from Mudrddi to Surabella-
sarekatte .o . . .. .. 8
{3) Road No. 12, from Kérkal to Padubidri .. 18
{4) Road No. 13, from Kérkal to Hiriadka be 13
(5) Road No. 14, from Hospet to Malpe .. . 35
(6) Road No. 15, from Brahmdvar to Perdtxr .. 12
(7) Road No. 16, from Hebri to Kokkarni v 11

(8) Road No. 17, from Séméshvar to Haladi oo 18
(%) Road No. 22, Coast road .. ‘s .. 30
(10) Boad No. 22, from Coast road to Malukal .. 3
{11) Road No. 22-A, from Coast road to Malukal
Kotaurs .. . . . ‘e o1

Torar .. 177

The first road is part of the main line of throagh commnnica-
tion from Shimoga to Mangalore and is kept up by the distriet
board. The rest are all under the taluk board. Of the latter
the most important is road No. 14, which leaves the Agumbi ghét
road a few miles from the foot of the ghit and runs wid Perdir
and Hiriadka through Udipi to the port of Malpe, with branch
lines aggregating 6 miles in length from Perdfir and Hiriadka to
Bajpé, whence there is water communication with the port of
Hangarkatta. From Hebri near Hospet, on road No, 14, another
road (No. 16) runs to Kokkarni from which there is also water
ccmmunication by another river with the port of Hangarkatta, and
road No. 17 puts the Agumbi ghédt into communication with the
port of Coondapoor. As in the other taluks the value of the coast
road is more appreciated than it used to be and a good deal of
money is now being spent in improving it, More than half the
length in the Udipi taluk is now in very good condition for cart-
traffiec. Road No. 13 joins road No. 16 at Hiriadka and puts the
sub-magistrate’s station of Kérkal in communieation with the head-
quarters of the taluk., The remaining roads are only of local
importance. The old avenues of the dfpada-mara or Vaferia
Tndica are particularly fine, and those on road No. 5 near Kérkal,
and on an old road, now abandoned, from Bérkfir to Sankara-
néréyana in communication with the ghét road to Bednore, are
specially worth mentioning.
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The water communications in connection with the roads are as
follows, and are useful for boats with a burthen of about 6 tons :-—
MILES.
(1) Road No. 16, Hangarkatia to Kokkarni - ., 10
(2) Road No. 14, Hangarkatta to Bajpé .. e 16
{3) Road No. 22, Malpe to Udaydvar .o o 6

Toran ,, 32

In addition to these there is communication by backwater
along the coast from Képh to Udayavar, a distance of 5 miles, and
from Kallidnptr »id Hangarkatta to Mantr, a distance of 10 miles.
The Malpe river is also navigable for'small rowing boats during
the rainy season to Stida, 10 miles above Udayévar, and by a branch
to Matti, 5 miles from Udayévar. Boats can also be taken up a
branch of the Hangarkatta river to a distance of 3 miles, above
Kallidnpar in the dry season, and 15 miles in the wet, but the
strength of the current then renders navigation hardly feasible.

The taluk lies in the Head Assistant Collector’s division. The
chief local revenue officer is the tahsildar (salary Rs. 225), but the
bulk of the magisterial work is performed by the stationary sub-
magistrate of Udipi. The taluk forms a single police division
under an inspector and is divided into seven police-station charges.
In respect to civil actions it is sitnated within the jurisdiction of
the district munsif of Udipi. The number of villages, including
the town of Udipi, is 261, and of these all but two are inhabited.

The population of the taluk in 1891 was 253,717, of whom
118,727 were males and 134,990 females. Hindus number
227,041, Musalmans 7,125, Christians 17,251, and Jains 2,300.
The population has increased by 6-86 per cent. since 1881, and there
are now 322 persons to the square mile. The number of occupied
houses 18 45,116 and there are on an average 562 inmates to each
house. Of the male population 86-03 per cent. areilliterate, 10-04
per cent. can read and write and 3-93 per cent. are learning. Of
the females 99-32 per cent. are illiterate. Canarese is the mother-
tongue of 69,536 persons, Tulu is that of 126,700, Malayilam that

“of 2,746, Konkani that of 36,964, Marithi that of 11,756, and

Hindustani that of 4,061. Classified by means of livelihood the
population consists of 148,528 landholders and tenants, 8,402
agricultural labourers, 51,824 general labourers, 17,189 traders,
877 weavers, 15,442 other artisans and 11,455 others.

The area of ryofudriland in the taluk is 498,100 acres and that
of minor sndms is 5,534 acres. There are neither whole indms nor
romindéris. Of the ryotwari land about 105,000 acres are under
forest and 265,600 acres are not available for cultivation. Of the
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remainder, 83,500 acres are in occupation and the area available
for extension of cultivation isthus 44,000 acres. The area cropped
in 1892-93 was 75,600 acres of ryotwéri land and 5,400 acres of
minor indm, or about 0-32 of an acre per head of the population.
Including the area cropped more than once the extent was 126,700
acres. Riee is the principal erop and is grown on nearly 103,800
acres. There are about 7,100 acres under orchard and garden
produce and 1,100 acres under gingelly. The dry crops ineluding
the pulses occupy an extent of 13,000 acres. The normal land
revenue of the taluk is Rs. 3,37,000 and the cesses charged on land

revenue amount to Rs. 49,000,

The agricultural stock in the taluk is shown in the marginal
' table. Interpreting ploughing

(1}3:3:: "“".‘_1 b“uf"‘":ks e ig’ggé eattle to mean bulls, bulloeks and
Male buffaloes . .o 4207 male buffaloes there is one pair
g‘?}i’n};ﬂiﬁ;ﬁ o 42:282 to every 2:99 acresin occupation,
Sheep ... ... .. .. 105 the distriet average being one
gﬁif;hs-" e 73»2%? pair to 3-60 acres; there are 20
Carte .. ... .. .. 1587 cows aud cow buffaloes to every

100 inhabitants against a district
average of 18 ; and there are 10 sheep and goats to each one thousand
acres in occupation, the average for the district as & whole being 17.

As elsewhere in Canara the staple produce is rice, a crop of dry
grain or pulses being grown as a second crop on lands which are
fairly good, but not sufficiently so to permit of a second rice crop
being raised. The most common of these are the different kinds
of gram, dholl, beans and gingelly. Sugar-cane is also grown to
a small extent near the coast, where there are also the usual
cocoanut gardens. Areca-nuts are grown in the shaded valleys
near the ghéts. The forest products have nothing specially
distinctive about them, except that amongst timber trees kiralbdghi
(Hepea porviflora) is more abundant than further south, and
amongst minor products cinnamon trees are the most important.

Udipi: Population 7,272, of whom 5,916 Hindus, 574 Musal-
mans and 781 Christians ; taluk head-quarters ; post and telegraph
office ; travellers’ bungalow (local fund); distance from Man-
galore 33 miles, north. 'Within the town are comprised parts of
Badagabittu, Mfidanidambiir, Pattir and Shivalii villages. It is
considered the most sacred sgpot in the Canarese counfry, and its
shrine of Krishna is much frequented by pilgrims from Mysore.
The importance of Udipi dates from the twelfth century when the
temple of Krishna is said to have been founded by MAdhavichéirya
himself, who set up in it an image of Krishna originally made by
Arjuna, and obtained by him from a vessel wrecked on the coast
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of Tuluva. He also placed in it three sdligrdsmns presented fo him
by the sage Vyédsa. There are also eight ancient maths, each with
a swhmi, each of whom in turn presides over the Krishna temple
for two years. At the change of swédini the pariyayi festival oceurs.
The temples are rude buildings, but roofed with copper, which must
have cost much money.

Kiarksal : Population 4,115; deputy tahsildar’s station ;
post-office ; sub-registrar’s office; port; travellers’ bungalow (loeal
fund}; distance from Mangalore 26 miles, and from Udipi 18
miles, east-south-east. It was once a populous Jaina town con-
taining many Jain statues and temples. It rose into importance
as the seat of the Bairasu Wodears, who probably made Kéarkal
their capital when Barktr was made over in 1336 to a governor
appointed by Haribara Réya of Vijayanagar. The famous colossal
statue of Gumta Réya was set up by this family in 1431, and in
the middle of the sixtecnth century the last rd4]4 is said to have
died leaving seven daughters, who divided the kingdom amongst
them and were each known by the title of Baira Dévi. The
daughter of the Baira Dévi who married Itcheappa Wodear of
Gairsappa is said to have re-united the kingdom in her person,
as her aunts died without issue and the family was extinguished
when BérkGr fell to Sivappa Néyak in the beginning of the
geventeenth century. 'l'here is a small lake here. The village is
the centre of a eonsiderable rice trade. The most remarkable Jain
remains in the district are found at Kérkal or its immediate neigh-
bourhoeod, and are described in the first volume of this Manual.

Bérkfr: Population 951 ; distanee from Udipi 9 miles, north.
Bérkar is the fraditional capital of Tuluva. It now stands about
8 miles inland, but was probably origirally a coast town on the
common estuary of the Sitanadi and Swarnanadi, the little port
of Hangarkattn, which now stands there, being also known as the
port of Barktr. When Drihmans were introduced into Tuluva
in the eighth century, Barkfr was one of the places at which a
Brédhman governor is gaid to have been appointed; and it is also
one of the towns in which & mosque is said to have been built in
the ninth century by the adherents of Chéramdn Perumdl, the ruler
of Malabar, who had then been converted to Muhesmmadanism.
Later on, it was the local capital of the Hoysal Balldl dynasty,
being probably held for them by one of the Humcha family,
represented afterwards by the Bairasu Wodear of Karkal. The
local rulers appear to have secured independence after the conver-
sion from Jainism to Brébmanism of the Hoysal Balldl king
Vishnuvardhana, and about 1250 A.D. it was held by a ruler
named Dhtdl Péndiya, who appears to have made lLis power
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exceptionally felt and who has been confused by some with the
Bhotdl Pindiya of traditions to whom is ascribed the introduction
of the ¢Alayasantina’ or °sister’s son’ system of inheritance.
The local chiefs retained independence at Barktr till 1336, when
the kingdom was made over to Harihara Rdya of Vijayanagar,
who appointed a local ‘Rayaru.” The old fort at Bérkér, of
which the ruins now remain, is said to have been built by Hari-
hara Réya. In 1506 the Vijayanagar dynasty was still in power
and a Keladi Basavappa arasu was appointed Rdyaru, thus paving
the way to the supremacy of the Keladi or Ikkéri family. About
this time the Portuguese power made itself felt at the port
of Béarkfir, which for some time paid an annual tribute of one
thousand loads of rice. In 1560 another of the Keladi family,
which by that time had moved to Ikkéri, obtained the under-
lordship of BarktGr and Mangalore with the title of Sadésiva
Néyak, and the family became independent when Vijayanagar
was taken and sacked by the Musalmans in 1565. Venkatappa
Niyak, who was reigning at BarkGr when Basrtir was ceded to
Bijaphr by Baira Dévi, resented the cession, and by 1608 he had
captured and slain Baira Dévi and almost extirpated the Jains
throughout the province of BérkGr. A Muhammadan governor
was appointed at Barkar after the capture of Nagar by Hyder
Ali, but its importance seems to have ceased with the fall of the
local Jain influence, and at the present day it is not even the
head-quarters of a taluk. 'Mraces of the great fort built by Haxi
Hara Réya, about 1870, still exist, as also the tanks and part of
the walls of an old palace. Ruins of Buddhist temples abound, and
inscriptions testify that in the fourteenth century Barkfir was the
seat of the viceregal government of the R4ja of Vijayanagar.
Among the sculptures, one representing a procession of armed men,,

bearing a striking resemblance in equipments and general appear-.

ance to the Greek soldiery, and another of a centaur, deserve special:

mark. The present town possesses some trade in brass and coppex-

utensils.

Kallidnptr : Population 5,582 ; distance from Mangalore

38 miles. Kallidnphr (literally ¢ the auspicious town’) is not the
Kallidna of the Periplus as was at one time supposed, but it is:

probably the Kallidna mentioned by Cosmos Indico-pleustes early
in the sixth century as the seat of a Christian Bishop. It is said
to have been the birthplace of MAdhavachérya, the Vaishnavite
Hindu reformer, about 1199 A D.* TIn 1678 the Portuguese were

¢ Madhavichirya is also said to have been born at Péjakakshétra, in the-
village of Belle, G miles south-east of Udipi.
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allowed to establish a factory at Kallidnptr, but their position was
not on a satisfactorily firm footing till 1714. There is now a
Roman Catholic Church at Kallidnpfir, of which the pastor and
congregation have refuscd to recogmize the recent arrangement
under which the jurisdiction of the Archbishop of Goa was com-
pletely withdrawn from South Canara. It was for some time the
capital of the Kalachurya king Bijjala.

Chitpddi: It is a small village containing 421 inhabitants.
The name Chitpidi means a ‘small jungle.” It is the family
seat of one of the most influential of the Brahman Balldls of
South Canara. Their connection with the locality is supposed to
date from the advent of the Brahmans with Maytra Varma in
the eighth century.

St. Mary Isles: These are a group of islands lying a littls
to the north of the port of Malpe and are so called on account of
a cross set up by Vasco de Gama who visited them in 1498,

Aleviir: Population 1,283, of whom 1,281 are Hindus. It is
one of the sixfeen cities mentioned in Bht4l Pandiya’s ¢ Alaya-
santdna law.’

Padubidri: Population 2,183; distance from Mangalore 19
miles. It is the seat of a Ballal family still extant.

Varanga: Population 959. It is the seat of a Jaina rdj of
the Heggade family. There is also an old Jaina temple,

Balisdvira: The name signifies a town of 1,000 (sévira)
families (bali). It is & smdgané or sub-division of a taluk eompris-
ing a large area of forty-six villages. According to a tradition
1,000 families of Nand4var following the Alayasantina law of
inheritance once lived in this avea.

Brahmdavar: Population 1,084, distance from Mangalore
40 miles, north. This village, which lies on the route from Manga.-
lore to Bednore, was the former residence of the tahsildar of the
Bérkidr taluk.

Muadrddi: Population 1,897; distance from Mangalore 51
miles, north. It was the seat of a Balldl chief under the Jain
Chowtar r4ja.

Manndrghur: It is a small coast village situated 25 miles
north-west of Mangalore. There is an old fort here.

Nellikdr: Population 939. Good granite stones are quar-
ried in the neighbourhood.

Nidambfir : Population 1,645. It gives its name to a Ball4l
family in Canara.
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8tda: It is a small village 12 miles south-east of Udipi.
There is an old Subramanya temple here, in which a car festival is
celebrated annually.

Stral: Population 355. It is a small village situated 39
miles north of Mangalore. Tt was the seat of a Jain rija.

Malpe: Population 8,125. This is the port of Udipi and the
best port in the district. The anchorage is shelfered by the island
of Daria Bahadurghnr. There is a fixed light close to the entrance
of the river, visible to a distance of 5 miles.

UPPINANGADI TALUK.

UrriNaxGADI is the only inland taluk of the distriet. Tt is
bounded on the north and east by Mysore ; on the south by Coorg
and the Késaragsd taluk ; and on the west by Kisaragdd and
Mangalore. On the north the summit of the ghits forms the
boundary, but on the east and south, where the line of the ghats
is intersected by great valleys, the boundary line comes right to
the foot of the hills to cross the valleys. The greatest length of
the taluk from north to south is about 50 miles, and the greatest
breadth about 83, The estimated area is 951 square miles.

. Though the taluk has nothing to compare with the alluvial
tracts of the coast taluks, yet the great valleys of the Kumardhéri
and Nétravatl and their prineipal tributaries are extremely fertile
and afford a pleasant contrast to the bare hills of the western
portions of the taluk and the otherwise continuous forest of the
western and southern portions.

Forest is the characteristic feature of the scenery of the faluk,
and over a considerable area there is nothing else to be seen.
The forests are good and extensive though they have been over.
worked since the beginning of the century. Teak abounds in
many localities, and other good timber irees are common, but
minor produets are neither so varied nor so abundant ag might
be expected from the extent of the forests. Cardamoms, however,
are grown in a semi-cultivated manner more largely than in any
other taluk of the district both in private and government forests.
At one time pepper was grown very extensively, but the culti-
vation has never recovered since the pepper trade was destroyed
by the heavy duties imposed by Tippoo on its export.

The main lines of ¢communications with the countries above the
ghits lie through the Uppinangadi taluk which is, therefore,
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‘CHAP. XIX, better provided with roads than might be expected of it, seeing
Ueeinaneant. that it is very sparsely populated. The roads are :—

Communica-
ions.

MILES.

Road No. 1, Sampaji ghdt read .. .o .. ol

Road No. 2, Manjarabid ghét road . o 40

Road No. 4, Kodekal gbdt road .. . o 21

Road No. 8-A, from Jalsiir to Subramanya .. 26

Road No. 9, from Puttdr to Beltangadi .. .. 19
Road No. 9-A, from Deltangadi to Nagore and

Malodi ‘e e . . .. 186

Torar .. 173

BisH ghét vroad .. 82

Torarn .. 205

The Sampaji ghdt road is the main line of communication

-open, at all seasons, between Mangalore and the Fastern Coast vid

Merecara, Myrore and Bangalore, and is much used by the coffee
traffic from Coorg. Tt is bridged throughout and is always kept
in good order with an annual maintenance allotment of Rs. 200
a mile. The Manjarabid ghét road leads to the important coffee
districts of Manjarab4d and Héssan. It was an expensive line
to make owing to the number of streams to be bridged, but it is
now bridged throughout with one large iron bridge at Keabbindle
and several minor ones at different places along the road, besides

pumerous masonry bridges snd culverts. 'the Kodekal ghét

road leads to Chiknagar -and the coffee district of Kadar. The

-gtatistics of land trade show it to be the most important line of
-eommunication with Mysore, and the toll receipts indicate that the

traffic on it is even larger than on the main lines through Coorg.
It was once bridged throughout with laterite and woed, but
unfortunately the wooden superstructures, and in some cases the
laterite pieces and abutments did not last long. The old bridge at
Beltangadi has recently been replaced. by a fine granite and iron
structure, and it is hoped that iron girders will soon he placed on

the masonry at Nidgal and Mundaji, which is still in capital order.

They are both large bridges, however, the foxmer having 11 spans

of 30 feet, and it will not be easy for the district board to find

the requisite funds. The Bisli ghét road lies between the Man-
jarabdd and Kodekal ghét roads and joins the former near
Uyppinangadi. It is useful for the eoffee and other traffic from
South Mysore and North Coorg, and has been made from a grant
given by Government at the request of the Mysore State. Road
No. 8-A, from Bubramanya to JalsGr, is a fair-weather road in
connection with the road from Jalstir to the port of Kdésaragéd.
It ig not much used and little is spent on it. Road No. ¢ from
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Puttlr to Beltangadi connects the southern part of the Uppinan-
gadi taluk with the northern taluks and is a very useful road.
Road No. 9-A, from Beltangadi to Nagore and Malodi, goes through
the fertile valley of Dangadi and has several village roads as
feeders. After Nagore it is used only by a few people going to
the Kudre Mukh and passing over Samse and Kalasa in Mysore by
a path from the Malodi saddle, after which there is a private road
4 milesin length to the Kudre Mukh.

Though Uppinangadi is an inland taluk, the only big river in
the district runs through it, and it is therefore not absolutely
without water communication. In the hot season the Nétravati
is navigable the whole distanee from Uppinangadi to Mangalore,
a distance of about 38 miles, of which nearly half lies within the
limits of the Uppinangadi taluk. From Uppinangadi the Nétra-
vati is navigable in the rainy season for 12 miles further to
Dharmastala.

The taluk lies in the General Duty Deputy Collector’s division,
whose head-quarters are at Puttdr. The chief local revenue
officer is the tahsildar (salary Rs. 175). He is also a magistrate,
but the bulk of the magisterial work is performed by the station-
ary sub-magistrate of Uppinangadi and the deputy fahsildar and
sub-magistrate at Beltangadi. There are 279 villages, and of these
all but two are inhabited. The taluk is divided into two police
divisions (at Beltangadi and Puttir) which are again sub-divided
into fourteen police-station charges. In respect to civil actions
it is sifuated within the jurisdietion of the distriet munsif of
Puttar.

The population of the taluk in 1891 was 118,807, of whom
60,614 were males and 58,193 females. Iindus number 105,494,
Musalmans 8,613, Christians 2,569 and Jains 2,128, 'The popula-
tion has increased by 7'65 per cent. since 1881, and there are now
125 persons to the square mile, The number of oecupied houses is
21,503, and there are on an average 553 Inmates to each house.
Of the male population 90-89 per cent. are illiterate, 6-96 per cent.
can read and write and 2'15 per cenf. are learning. Of the
females 99-52 per cent. are illiterate. Canarese is the mother-
tongue of 16,857 persons, Tulu that of 81,490, Malay&lam that
of 8,647, Konkani that of 6,321, Marithi that of 8,303, and
Hindustani that of 1,724. Classified by means of subsistence
the population consists of 67,230 landholders and tenants, 15,517
agricultural labourers, 21,309 general labourers, 4,274 traders, 427
weavers, 4,664 other artisans and 5,386 others.

The area of ryofwdri land in the taluk is 605,800 acres, and
that of minor indms is 2,829. There are neither whole indms nor
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zeminddris. Of the ryotwiri land about 331,400 acres are under
forest and 168,700 acres are not available for cultivation. Of the
remainder 79,700 acres are in occupation, and the arca availabe for
the extension of cultivation is thus 26,000 acres. The area cropped
in 1892-93 was 57,400 acres of ryotwari land and 1,400 acres of
minor indm, or about 0-49 of an acre per head of the population.
Including the extent eropped more than once, the extent was
92,400 acres. Rice is the principal crop and is grown on nearly
82,000 acres. There are about 1,200 acres under gingelly and 500
acres under ragi. There were in that year 5,696 single pattés, of
which 1,789 were for sums below Rs. 10. The normal land
revenue of the taluk is Rs. 1,483,000, and the cesses charged on land
revenue amount to Rs. 21,000,

The agricultural stock in the taluk is shown in the margin.
Interpreting ploughing cattle to

Bulls and bullocks ... ... 36,507 mean bulls, bullocks and male
Cows ... . 25,040 0 : alr

Male buffaloes e 21,047 buffaloes, there 1sone p .to
Cow buffaloes .., . amrs every 3°98 acres 1n occupation,
Young stock ... .. .. 32439 {he digtrict average being on
Bheep and goats 1;525 . st g g °
Ploughs e oo areoa pair to 360 acres; there are 25
Carts ... v o v 579 cows and cow buffaloes to every

100 inhabitants against a district
average of 18 ; and there are 135 sheep and goats to each thousand
acres in occupation, the average for the district as a whole being 17.

Even here rice is the staple product, the place next in import-
ance being taken by areca-nuts, of which there are many planta-
tions in the valleys adjoining the spurs of the ghdts. Cocoanut
plantations are, of course, less common than in the coast. Ragi
is grown more extensively than in most of the other taluks. A
crop of some kind of gram, beans, dholl or gingelly is grown after
a first rice crop on soils which are fairly good, but do not possess
water-supply for a second rice crop. A small quantity of tobaceo
is grown in some villages of the Sulia MAgané, and a little
ginger, turmeric and chillies here and there throughout the
taluk.

Putthir: Population 3,745, of whom 2,714 are Hindus, 514
Musalmans and 487 Christians ; post office ; police station ; taluk
head-quarters; distance from Mangalore 25 miles. Owing to the
Coorg insurrection, which first broke out at Bellare, 16 miles
south-east, troops were stationed here from 1837 till the infroduc-
tion of the mofussil police in 1860.

Uppinangadi: Population 1,612; police station ; post office ;
distance from Mangalore 27 miles, Until recently it was the
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head-quarters of the taluk. An old temple, which stands af the
confluence of the Nétravati and KumardbAri, is held very sacred.
Tt was, however, attacked in 1800 by Subba Rao and the Vittal
Heggade, but successfully held by the tahsildar of Kadaba.

Bailangadi: Population 1,979; the name is derived from
Canarese dailu, plain and angedi, shop. 1t is the family seat of
an old Jain chief, the Mdlar.

Bellare: Population 619; post office. The Bellare Mégané
was ceded to Coorg in 1768 by Hyder Ali and resumed by Tippoo
in 1775, but was again ceded by the English in 1799. It was
finally resumed when Coorg was annexed in 1834. A force which
left Kumbla ander Colonel Jackson in that year to co-operate in
the invasion of Coorg from the Mysore side was stopped by a
stockade near Bellare,

Kadaba : Population 1,025 ; police station; post office; dis-
tance from Mangalore 43 miles. Kadaba is said to have been the
seat of one of the four Brahman governors appointed for Tuluva in
the eighth century. Owing to its situation it was frequently
devastated during the Coorg invasions in the eighteenth century.
The tahsildar of Kadaba did good service against recalcitrants
in 1800.

Sisila : Population 255; distance from Mangalore 45 miles.
Sisila is now a small jungle village, deriving importance only
from its ancient temple, but is believed to have been at one time,
probably about the eleventh century, the Tulu capital of the
Humcha family, who afterwards became the Bairasu Wodears of
Kérkal.

Bangadi: Police station; post office. Tt was the seat of one
of the local officers of the Vijayanagar government from the times
of Harihara Réya.

Jamslabdd : It wasformerly called Narasimhangadi (Nara«
simha’s place), and the present fort was built on its ruins by
Tippoo Sultan in honour of his mother Jamdl Bee. It is a small
town at the foot of a high rock forming the terminus of a long
spur from the Kudre Mukh. -The capabilities of the rock for
fortification were noticed by Tippoo who built a fort on the top of
it in 1794. It was captured by the British in 1799, but was soon
after surprised and taken by Timma Nayak on behalf of a Mysore
pretender. It was recaptured by the British in June 1800,

Subramanya or Pushpagiri : 1t is a small village below the
ghéts containing 440 inhabitants; police station ; distance from
Mangalore 55 miles. It is one of the prineipal seats of serpent
worship in South India, and there is also an old and famous temple
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dedicated to Siva. Although it 18 a Saivite temple, it holds a
sdligram deposited there by the Vaishnavite reformer Méadhavé-
chirya. A large cattle fair is held here during the annual festival
in November and Deocember. Garnets are found in the Kumar-
dhéri river 3 miles from the temple. The ascent to the hill is
difficult, but can be managed on foot in about three hours. On
the summit are many ancient stone cairns,

Dharmastala: It is a place of pilgrimage in the village of
Mallarmadi ; population 1,325, of whom 1,128 are Hindus ; police
station ; distance from Mangalore 87 miles. There is a well-
endowed temple dedicated to Manjunéda. The Dharmastala
jétra, or Mumination festival, is celebrated for four days in Novem-
ber or December and the Naddeali festival once in twelve yoars
for thirteen days. The Heggade of Dharmastala rendered good
gervice to the British at Jamalabid and against the Vittal Heggade
in 1800.

Amara and Sulia: The Amara and Sulia Migands were
added to Coorg by the Bednore rulersin 1730 and resumed by
Tippoo in 1775, They were again ceded by the British on the
annexation of Canara and remained attached to Coorg until the
deposition of the r4j4 in 1834.

Kudre Mukh : The Kudre Mukh is one of the three peaks of
the Western Gthauts ranging from 6,173 to 6,207 feet above sea-
level, and it forms the sanitarium of South Canara. The name is
said to be derived from its’appearance as a conspicuous land-mark
to sailors. It can be ascended from the west by a bridle-path.
There are two bungalows on the Mysore side of the ridge ahout
509 feet below the top.

Bisley or Bisli: This pass was formerly of importance as
connecting Mangalore with Seringapatam, but fell into disrepair,
and was long practicable for pack-bullocks only. It was recently
opened as a fair-weather road and continued to Uppinangadi. As
being the shortest route to Subramanya where a great annual
fair is held, the cattle-breeders on the other side use this road.
The village stands at one end of the pass on the road from Banga-
lore to Mangalore.

Chdrmadi: This pass, also known as the Boon ghét or Coffes
ghit, was opened in 1864, and now it is one of the main lines for
wheeled traffie, specially for coffee transport, between Manga-
lore and Mysore. The village of the name containg 700 inhabit~
ants and is 42 miles east-north-east from Mangalore,
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List of Great Trigonometrical Statvons, CHAP. XIX.
G. P
BraTioNs.

Height

Taluk. G.T. station. above
sea level.

FELT,

(( Bisili, .S, ... 2,862

Gunjanagudda 116

Karanigatta, hp. ... 8,381

Coondapoor .+ | Kodachadri, H.8, ... 4,411 [ee

Kundabhagavatigndda - 256

Yedamale, h.p. 2,809

| Yelgatia, h.p. 2,964

(| Ballamalal, H.8. ... 818

Ballanad, h.p. s 970

. Kunduddaka Malai, H.S. ... 1,845
Késarag6d 3 | Muchil, 1.8. L Leis
| | Mudipinna, h. tree ... 695

{_| Passadignrope, hos. ... - 1,068

[} Karsnja, ht. 744

! | Kodinjakal, h.p. 1,143

1 Kudre Mukh oo T e |

Manealore J Kunchar, h.s. 236
g - Mangalore, 3. 196

| Mijar, 1.8. 694

i | Mukh head, h.s. 6,180

|| Pandukal, h.p. 6,185

. Agumbi, h.m. 2,817
Udipi e { Walkunji, H.8. ... .. .. .| 8415
(| Ammedikal. H.8, ... 4,287

| | Bangar vellige 5,650

Uppinangadi ... | Beltangadi, 8. 357
|| Jamalabad, hm. .. .. ... ..l 1795

{| Yerkal, k.p. 3,188

Nore.—11.8. means Hill Station (Prineipai}.
S. »  Station {Principal).
h.s. ,»»  hill station (Secondary).
h.p. ,, hill platform (Secondary).
h.t. ,,  hill temple (Secondary).
hom, ,,  hill mark (Becondary).
h. tree,,  hill tree (Secondary).
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